
 

 

 
ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND SERVICES SCRUTINY PANEL 

 

Date: Wednesday 11th November, 2020 
Time: 10.30 am 

Venue: Virtual 

 
AGENDA 

 

Please note: this is a virtual meeting. 
 
The meeting will be live-streamed via the Council’s Youtube 
channel at 10.30 am on Wednesday 11th November, 2020 

 
 
1.   Apologies for Absence 

 
Apologies for Absence 
 
 

  

2.   Declarations of Interest 
 
To receive any declarations of interest. 
 
 

  

3.   Minutes- Adult Social Care and Services Scrutiny Panel - 
DATE 
 
 

  

4.   Ageing Better Middlesbrough (ABM) - Update and 
Future/Legacy Planning 
 
Michelle Dawson, ABM's Programme Manager will be in 
attendance at the meeting to provide an update regarding 
work undertaken to date, impact of Covid 19, together with 
plans for the future 
 
 

  

5.   Reducing Loneliness and/ or social isolation in Later life- an 
update 
 
n respect of the Adult Social Care and Services Scrutiny 
Panel's 2018 review of Reducing Loneliness and/ or social 
isolation in Later life- to consider an update from the Director 

 3 - 44 

Page 1

https://www.youtube.com/user/middlesboroughcouncil
https://www.youtube.com/user/middlesboroughcouncil


 

of Adult Social Care and Health Integration on the progress 
made with the implementation of the agreed 
recommendations/actions. 
 
The Panel has also requested an update in relation to how 
Covid-19 has impacted on social isolation and steps being 
taken to address this. 
 
 

6.   Chair's OSB Update 
 
 

  

7.   Any other urgent items which in the opinion of the Chair, may 
be considered. 
 
 

  

 
Charlotte Benjamin 
Director of Legal and Governance Services 

 
Town Hall 
Middlesbrough 
Date Not Specified 
 
MEMBERSHIP 
 
Councillors J Platt (Chair), S Hill (Vice-Chair), D Jones, G Purvis, D Rooney, J Walker and 
G Wilson 
 
Assistance in accessing information 
 
Should you have any queries on accessing the Agenda and associated information 
please contact Susie Blood, 01642 729645, susie_blood@middlesbrough.gov.uk 
 

Page 2



1 

 

                                                                                           AGENDA ITEM:  5    
 

          MIDDLESBROUGH COUNCIL 
 

        OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY BOARD 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
CONTENTS 

 

Purpose of the Report 
 

Page 2 

Aims of the Investigation 
 

Page 2 

Terms of Reference 
 

Page 2 

Background Information 
 

Page 2-3 

Setting the Scene 
 

Page 3 

Term of Reference A 
 

Page 3-7 

Term of Reference B 
 

Page 7-9 

Term of Reference C 
 

Page 10-12 

Term of Reference D 
 

Page 12-15 

Supplementary Information/Evidence 
 

Page 15-16 

Conclusions 
 

Page 16-17 

Recommendations 
 

Page 17-18 

Acknowledgements 
 

Page 18 

Acronyms 
 

Page 18-19 

Background Papers Page 19-20 

Panel Membership 
 

Page 20 

 

FINAL REPORT OF THE 
SOCIAL CARE AND ADULT SERVICES  

SCRUTINY PANEL –  
REDUCING LONELINESS AND/OR  

SOCIAL ISOLATION IN LATER LIFE 

Page 3

Agenda Item 5



2 

 

PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 

1. To present the final report of the Social Care and Adult Services Scrutiny Panel 
following its investigation into ‘Reducing Loneliness and/or Social Isolation in Later 
Life’. 

 

AIMS OF THE INVESTIGATION 
 

2. As part of its investigation, the Social Care and Adult Services Scrutiny Panel sought 
to raise awareness of the issues surrounding loneliness and/or social isolation, in the 
context of later life, and to develop new patterns of thinking. 

 

TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 

3. The terms of reference for the Scrutiny Panel’s investigation were as follows: 
 

a) To understand the key issues, concepts and impact of loneliness and/or social 
isolation. 
 

b) To ascertain why older people are at risk of or experiencing loneliness and/or 
social isolation, and how those affected are identified. 

 
c) To examine the work that the Council, its partners (including social housing 

providers) and voluntary sector organisations are currently undertaking to 
reduce loneliness and/or social isolation, and to identify any potential future work 
projects. 

 
d) To explore effective strategies and interventions to reduce loneliness and/or 

social isolation. 
 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 

4. Loneliness and/or social isolation are exceedingly complex, yet nationally pertinent, 
issues that can impact upon any person at any point in their lifetime; loneliness is not 
discriminative (Jo Cox Commission on Loneliness, 2017).   
 

5. For focus, the Panel has primarily addressed loneliness and/or social isolation in the 
context of later life, although remain mindful that these matters are certainly of 
intergenerational concern. 

 
6. The timeliness of this investigation reflects that it is a current and highly relevant 

topic; it is felt that the outcomes of this work, together with the next steps undertaken, 
will have the potential to make an enormous difference to the lives of people in 
Middlesbrough.   

 
7. The investigation was partially conducted over the winter months; a key time for an 

array of campaign work to be undertaken by both local and national organisations.  
Concurrent to this investigation, for example, such work as Age UK’s ‘Campaign to 
End Loneliness’ and Ageing Better Middlesbrough’s (ABM’s) ‘Christmas Day Meal’ 
programme was being undertaken.  These activities aim to support lonely and/or 
socially isolated people at Christmas time (although the Panel does acknowledge 
that support provision is required, and is vital, all year round).  The publishing of the 
Jo Cox Commission on Loneliness report and the subsequent appointment of Tracey 
Crouch as the UK’s first minister for loneliness (Powell, 2018) also reflect the 
timeliness and relevance of this investigation.  

Page 4



3 

 

8. Early intervention and the provision of appropriate support by Local Authorities, 
tailored to the needs of the individual experiencing feelings of loneliness and/or social 
isolation (Jopling, 2015), could reduce the risk of negative impact upon the 
individual’s health (both physical and mental), as well as their overall well-being.  It 
could also minimise the repercussions and alleviate the pressures upon wider health 
and social care services (Family Action, 2013). 

 

SETTING THE SCENE 
 

9. In order to ascertain the Local Authority’s current position regarding loneliness and 
social isolation and to explore these issues further, the Social Care and Adult 
Services Scrutiny Panel held meetings on 20 September 2017, 23 October 2017, 13 
November 2017, 20 December 2017, 17 January 2018 and 12 February 2018.      
 

10. Supplementary evidence derived from the Scrutiny Panel’s sub working party activity 
around the topic of transport, which was undertaken in collaboration with ABM, 
Middlesbrough Voluntary Development Agency (MVDA), Ageing Better 
Middlesbrough Action Group (ABMAG), and the Chair of the Economic Development 
and Infrastructure Scrutiny Panel, has also been referred to in this report.  

 
11. The Panel was provided with information/evidence from the following 

organisations/representatives: 
 

 C Boshier – Community Connector, British Red Cross; 

 M Davis – Chief Executive, MVDA; 

 M Dawson – Programme Manager, ABM; 

 J Dodds – Senior Independent Living Manager, Thirteen Housing Group; 

 M Homer – Member of ABMAG and Chair of the Core Partnership; 

 C Joynes – Director of Customer Support Services, Thirteen Housing Group; 

 J Pearce – Neighbourhood Safety Officer, Middlesbrough Council; 

 A Peirson – Fire Prevention and Improvement Development Manager, 
Cleveland Fire Authority;  

 E Scollay – Director of Adult Social Care and Health Integration, 
Middlesbrough Council; 

 D Snaith – Acting Chief Inspector, Cleveland Police; 

 A Sykes – Chief Executive, Age UK Teesside; and 

 P Taylor – Live at Home Manager, Middlesbrough Live at Home Scheme. 
 

12. The information conveyed to the Panel over the course of the investigation has been 
considered in reflection of the agreed terms of reference, presented as follows: 
 

TERM OF REFERENCE A: 
TO UNDERSTAND THE KEY ISSUES, CONCEPTS  

AND IMPACT OF LONELINESS AND/OR SOCIAL ISOLATION 
 
Definitions 
 

13. In terms of defining ‘Loneliness’ and ‘Social Isolation’, Davidson and Rossall (2014) 
offer the following definitions:  
 
“Loneliness and isolation, or social isolation, are often discussed together and even 
used interchangeably.  While they are related, they are distinct concepts. 
  
Loneliness can be understood as an individual’s personal, subjective sense of 
lacking desired affection, closeness, and social interaction with others.  Although 

Page 5



4 

 

loneliness has a social aspect, it is also defined by an individual’s subjective 
emotional state.  Loneliness is more dependent on the quality than the number of 
relationships. 

  
Social isolation refers to a lack of contact with family or friends, community 
involvement, or access to services”. 
 
Similarly, Jopling (2015) indicates that:  
 
“While social isolation is an objective state - defined in terms of the quantity of social 
relationships and contacts - loneliness is a subjective experience.  Loneliness is a 
negative emotion associated with a perceived gap between the quality and quantity 
of relationships that we have and those we want.” 

 
14. Further to the definitions provided at paragraph 13 above, the Panel was advised 

that loneliness and social isolation are two very different matters and therefore 
defined differently; individuals can feel socially isolated but not lonely and, 
conversely, lonely but not socially isolated.  The Panel recognises that assumptions 
can very easily be made about individuals who appear busy and active, and/or about 
individuals that do not participate in a great deal of community activity, for example: 
an individual may purposely create an isolated environment for themselves. 
 

15. It was indicated that feelings of loneliness and/or social isolation are subjective, i.e. 
they are individual to people and difficult to judge externally.  The Panel appreciates 
that there is a significant amount of loneliness and/or social isolation being 
experienced, but the solutions to resolve these/this and the ways in which services 
engage with individuals vary enormously; a 'one size fits all’ approach will not work.  
Any person can feel lonely and/or socially isolated; the significance of conversation 
with people and building a relationship with them is recognised by the Panel. 

 
16. The Panel heard that a significant amount of research has been undertaken 

nationally around the impact of loneliness and/or social isolation on both physical 
and mental health; however, an evidence base in terms of how the issues are 
addressed, prevented and better supported is lacking. 
   

17. The Panel recognises the opportunity for further work to be undertaken between 
partners at a localised level in order to contribute to further developing an evidence 
base.  The work being undertaken through the ABM programme (see paragraphs 19 
and 34), for example, may assist in this regard. 

 
18. As loneliness and/or social isolation have the potential to impact at any time across 

a person’s life, these/this can therefore occur at any time during the year.  The Panel 
heard from invited representatives that there are times of the year that can be 
particularly acute, and previous media reports have indicated that some national 
support services have been overwhelmed during these times (O’Grady, 2017).  The 
Panel recognises this, although feels that both loneliness and social isolation should 
receive an on-going focus throughout the year, in order to ensure that those 
individuals affected can receive effective and efficient support, which would minimise 
the impact on both the individual and potentially wider statutory services.  For 
example, regarding the latter, previous research has indicated that: 

 

 “Loneliness is associated with depression, sleep problems, impaired 
cognitive health, heightened vascular resistance, hypertension, 
psychological stress and mental health problems.  Growing numbers of 
lonely people mean increased demand on health services too.” (Caldwell et 
al., 2017); and  

Page 6



5 

 

 The financial price of loneliness can equate to approximately “£6,000 per 
person in health costs and pressure on local services” (Coughlan, 2017). 

 

Funding 
 

19. The Panel understands that in April 2015, Middlesbrough became one of 14 Local 
Authority areas awarded Big Lottery Funding.  Middlesbrough and Stockton Mind 
successfully led a partnership of local organisations through the Big Lottery 
application process and secured £6m of funding, over six years, to deliver a 
comprehensive programme (ABM), which aims to reduce loneliness and/or social 
isolation for people aged 50 and over in Middlesbrough.  The programme is currently 
half-way through, with on-going review and evaluation work being completed (see 
paragraph 34).  The Panel welcomes the work being carried out and looks forward 
to receiving further updates regarding its progression. 
 

20. The Panel appreciates the funding that has been awarded in respect of ABM, 
although recognises that funding continues to be a significant issue for both public 
and voluntary sector service providers. 
 

21. The Panel notes that, whilst national funding opportunities are occasionally available 
for local not-for-profit organisations/branches, such as Age UK Teesside and the 
Middlesbrough Live at Home Scheme, this is highly competitive and therefore not 
guaranteed.   

 

22. The Panel is of the view that the role of partnership work and the sharing of resources 
and knowledge, particularly at a time when budget/funding restrictions are being 
made, will prove fundamental to the reduction of loneliness and/or social isolation 
going forward.  The Community Connect Service provided by MVDA, for example, 
will facilitate this work/process substantially. 
 
Impact of Loneliness and/or Social Isolation 

 
23. The Panel was advised that once a person has become lonely and/or socially 

isolated, this can lead to a variety of physical and emotional problems.  Whether an 
individual has been divorced or bereaved or has family living far away, a fundamental 
point about reducing loneliness and/or social isolation is ensuring that those people 
have support and interaction with others available to them.  The Panel recognises 
that this is a significant task for all agencies/organisations and therefore the 
importance of partnership working is vital in this regard. 
 

24. To illustrate the significance of loneliness and/or social isolation, the Panel received 
the following national statistical information from Age UK Teesside: 

 

 A 2015 study indicated that loneliness could increase the risk of premature 
death by up to a quarter; 

 People with a high degree of loneliness were twice as likely to develop 
Alzheimer's Disease than people with a low degree of loneliness; 

 1.7% or 200,000 older people (65 and over) had not had a conversation with 
friends or family for a month; 

 3.1% or 360,000 older people (65 and over) had not had a conversation with 
friends or family for over a week; 

 8.5% or 975,000 older people (65 and over) often or always felt lonely; 

 12.04% or 1.2 million older people (65 and over in England) were 
persistently/chronically lonely; and 

 6.87% or 800,000 older people (65 and over in UK) had no close friends. 

Page 7



6 

 

 
25. Further, research undertaken by Williams et al. (2013) indicated that: 

 

 23% of people aged 75 and over who live alone do not see or speak with 
someone every day’; and 

 13% of people aged 55 and over only speak to someone three or four days a 
week’. 

 
26. In a localised context, the Panel recognises the work being undertaken by 

organisations in researching instances of loneliness and/or social isolation, and 
presenting this accordingly.  For example: it was indicated to Members that Age UK 
and the Office for National Statistics (ONS) had produced an array of 'Loneliness 
Heat Maps’ that allowed the grading of individual Local Authority Wards in terms of 
the risk of loneliness.  The Wards with a ‘Very High Risk’ of loneliness within 
Middlesbrough consisted of: 
 

 Ayresome; 

 Beechwood; 

 Coulby Newham; 

 Gresham; 

 Ladgate; 

 Middlehaven; 

 North Ormesby and Brambles Farm; 

 Pallister; 

 Park End; 

 Thorntree; and 

 University. 
 

(N.B. the Ward information used reflected the pre-2015 Ward Boundary changes)   
 

Further, the Panel was informed that research carried out by Mind revealed that 44% 
of older people in Middlesbrough (aged 50+) had reported that they often, or 
sometimes, felt lonely. 
 

27. Further to paragraph 18, the Panel recognises the impact that loneliness and/or 
social isolation can have on the use of statutory services - the rate at which people 
visit their GPs, for example, which may result in early entry to Social Care services 
(such as residential and nursing care).  It is particularly important to maintain an 
awareness of both the personal impact upon individuals, as well as on the potential 
impact upon service demand and costs, particularly when funding and budget 
reduction concerns have been raised. 

 

28. The Panel heard that Cleveland Fire Authority undertakes ‘Safe and Well Visits’, 
which include the completion of falls prevention checks, falls screening tools, 
dementia checks (the organisation has recently become 'Dementia Friendly'; 
dementia is felt to be a type of loneliness), and a well-being check, which includes 
wider loneliness, social isolation and winter warmth.  The purpose of the programme 
is to reduce pressures on the NHS, particularly winter pressures.  As an example, it 
was indicated that a hip replacement operation would currently cost the NHS 
approximately £6,000, whereas a hospital stay following a fall would cost 
approximately £27,000.  The Panel feels that not only does this demonstrate further 
the potential costs that can impact upon statutory services, but the success that 
partnership working can have.  The Panel hope that the ‘Safe and Well programme’ 
will be rolled out nationally in due course. 

 

Page 8



7 

 

29. Reference was made to four deaths that had occurred within the Cleveland Fire 
Authority area within the last year - one of which had been due to hoarding and the 
use of candles.  NHS advice indicates the importance of encouraging “a person who 
is hoarding to seek help, as their difficulties discarding objects can not only cause 
loneliness and mental health problems, but also pose a health and safety risk” (NHS, 
2015).  The Panel recognises this and supports the work being undertaken by 
partners, such as the Thirteen Housing Group, as well as other statutory 
organisations, in addressing these issues to help prevent any further tragedies from 
occurring. 

 
30. The Panel understands that loneliness and/or social isolation do not ‘just occur’, i.e. 

wider complex issues are often instigating factors.  For example: older residents may 
feel less willing to engage in the Community if they are fearful of Anti-Social 
Behaviour (ASB).  This could be a perceived, as opposed to an actual, threat.   
Representatives of Thirteen Housing Group explained how the organisation has 
recognised this and strengthened its support team to assist tenants experiencing 
ASB-related issues.  On-going partnership work with Cleveland Police and the Local 
Authority’s Neighbourhood Safety Team is also undertaken in relation to this, 
including Joint Action Group (JAG) and other multi-agency meetings.   

 

31. In response to ASB, Cleveland Police target perpetrators through the use of, for 
example, Criminal Behaviour Orders and Dispersal Orders, and also undertake work 
with partners, including Safe in Tees Valley, Kicks and Hemlington Linx, to provide 
activities for young people and help focus their attention elsewhere.  Crime figures 
are reported at Community Council meetings, which Police Officers and/or Police 
Community Support Officers (PCSOs) do attend.  Some facts are also uploaded onto 
‘Cleveland Connected’, which is an electronic system that allows members of the 
public to register for e-mail and text message alerts.  The Panel supports these 
measures, which is hoped will reassure residents and give them confidence to leave 
their homes.  
 

TERM OF REFERENCE B: 
TO ASCERTAIN WHY OLDER PEOPLE ARE AT RISK OF OR  
EXPERIENCING LONELINESS AND/OR SOCIAL ISOLATION,  

AND HOW THOSE AFFECTED ARE IDENTIFIED 
 

32. The Panel was advised that a key point of loneliness and/or social isolation concerns 
perception: it is possible to encounter people who may appear to be isolated, but 
would identify themselves as not being lonely because they like the situation.  
Similarly, it is possible to encounter people who may have lots of other people around 
them and yet still feel lonely.  The Panel considered this point in the context of larger 
care facilities, such as residential care.   
 

33. The Panel is of the view that conversation is fundamental in addressing loneliness 
and/or social isolation; speaking to individuals about their experiences and building 
a relationship with them in order to understand their subjective experience, and 
ascertain potential risk, is key to ensuring successful support provision. 
 

34. The Panel was appraised of the work of ABM, in particular some of the learning that 
has been achieved to date.  Regarding the importance of conversation, the 
information conveyed supports the notion that, in order to successfully address 
feelings of loneliness and/or social isolation, a ‘personalised’ understanding of the 
individual’s unique circumstances and issues is fundamental, as is the provision of 
time to help resolve these.  ABM’s Outreach Workers, for example, offer time to 
understand a person’s goals in order to help reduce loneliness and/or social isolation.  

Page 9



8 

 

Similarly, the programme’s Community Projects Officers take time to understand an 
individual’s barriers in attending activity taster sessions. 

 
35. The Panel understands that Adult Social Care tends to work with a particular 

segment of the population; people come to the attention of services for a specific set 
of reasons and are therefore already known to services in terms of recognising 
changing behaviours and the onset of loneliness and/or social isolation.  Members 
note that an eligibility criteria is currently in place in terms of access to services.   

 
36. The Panel recognises that loneliness and/or social isolation does not occur solely in 

older age; it is cross generational and can affect any individual from any walk of life.   
 

37. Research undertaken by the Co-operative Group and British Red Cross in 2016 
identified that over 9 million adults of all ages either always or often felt lonely.  Key 
life transitions/factors, including: bereavement, children leaving home, disability and 
retirement, play a pivotal role and are definite key triggers for adults feeling lonely 
and/or socially isolated.  This view is supported by additional research carried out by 
other organisations, such as Age UK and the Office for National Statistics (Carter, 
2017).  Without support from family, friends or someone to point them in the right 
direction, this key time could become chronic for that individual; impacting their 
behaviour, health and well-being.  The Panel supports the work that ABM and the 
ABMAG have been undertaking in relation to this.  One piece of work, for example, 
brought older and younger people (clients of Talent Match Middlesbrough, which 
focuses upon youth unemployment) together for conversation.  Interestingly, very 
similar issues have been experienced by both groups, such as going unnoticed within 
the community and/or not being accepted by the community.  The Panel are hopeful 
that work will continue in order that both groups can support one another further in 
the future. 
 

38. The Panel recognises that transport is a recurring issue for people: access to reliable 
and appropriate transport is crucial and often provides a key barrier to engagement 
for many older people in all areas of Middlesbrough.  There are diverse issues around 
cost, availability of transport, access for people with disabilities and a lack of 
confidence in public transport.  This significant issue is felt to be one of the key drivers 
of loneliness and/or social isolation within Middlesbrough, and one that requires 
considerable attention.  As a preliminary activity in recognition of this, the Panel 
established a separate working party to look at this issue in further detail.  The 
outcomes of these working party meetings are detailed in the supplementary 
evidence section of this report (paragraphs 79-87). 

 
39. Regarding the partnership work undertaken between the British Red Cross and the 

Co-operative Group, the Panel heard that the two organisations had recognised the 
prevalent issues of loneliness and social isolation whilst undertaking their work 
independently.  For example: the British Red Cross had observed effects when 
visiting people in their homes, whereas the Co-operative Group had observed effects 
in their customers as they visited their shops and funeral care premises.  In response 
to this, the two had formed a partnership in July 2015 in order to share a common 
commitment to communities and to help address these issues.  Reference was made 
to the Co-operative Group’s Community Members, one in three of which had reported 
that they had potentially recognised the effects of loneliness and/or social isolation 
in a friend and/or relative. 

40. In undertaking this joint work, the British Red Cross and the Co-operative Group had 
carried out some research; the key findings of this (which were relevant to whole 
population) were outlined to the Panel, as follows: 

 

Page 10



9 

 

 75% of those people that said they regularly felt lonely did not know who they 
should tell – whether this should be a family member, a friend, or their GP.   

 

 Six groups of people, in particular, were identified and focused upon in terms 
of experiencing loneliness and/or social isolation: 
 

1. People with mobility issues, in particular those that had lost or were 
losing their sight;  

2. People experiencing health issues, which limited them from leaving 
the home and/or partaking in social activities;  

3. New mothers, particularly younger women;  
4. People recently bereaved could feel lost for potentially long periods; 

families had their own lives and may not have always been able to 
visit during this difficult time;  

5. People recently divorced or separated, for the right reasons, but were 
unsure as to next steps; and  

6. Retirees and people living without children at home - e.g. 'empty nest 
syndrome'. 

 
This information affirms the previously outlined position that loneliness and/or social 
isolation can occur at any point across a person’s life, is intergenerational and not 
discriminative.  A document entitled 'Escaping the Bubble’ (2016) was produced 
following the completion of this research. 

 

41. In terms of referrals to support services, the Panel understands that these can 
originate from varying avenues, including: self, family, friends, existing service users 
and partner organisations.  However, prior to engagement, it is imperative that those 
individuals accessing services are able to recognise that they are experiencing 
feelings of loneliness and/or social isolation, and want to actively engage in 
addressing those, otherwise, regardless of the support offered, it will prove 
ineffective. 
 

42. The Panel is of the view that Local Authority staff, together with employees of other 
organisations such as social housing providers and utility companies, who regularly 
visit peoples’ properties and/or come into contact with the public every day, are in a 
primary position to recognise individuals who may be at risk of, or already 
experiencing, loneliness and/or social isolation.  The Panel was advised of Cleveland 
Fire Brigade’s ability to access peoples’ homes and, as a ‘Dementia Friendly’ 
organisation and part of the ‘Safe and Well Programme’, undertake dementia checks 
and make referrals, as appropriate; dementia can be viewed as a type of loneliness 
in itself.  Similarly, Thirteen Housing Group’s Gas Engineers also receive training in 
this regard (see paragraph 70).  The Panel recognises the effectiveness of this 
approach and fully supports any related training initiatives going forward.  

 
43. The Panel understands that cultural matters could potentially be linked to feelings of 

loneliness and/or social isolation, with reference being made to one individual who 
had lived in Middlesbrough for three years but experienced very little interaction with 
others.  Paragraph 50 considers in further detail the work being undertaken by 
external partners and organisations in this regard. 

 
 

TERM OF REFERENCE C: 
TO EXAMINE THE WORK THAT THE COUNCIL,  

ITS PARTNERS (INCLUDING SOCIAL HOUSING PROVIDERS) AND 
VOLUNTARY SECTOR ORGANISATIONS ARE CURRENTLY  

UNDERTAKING TO REDUCE LONELINESS AND/OR SOCIAL ISOLATION,  

Page 11



10 

 

AND TO IDENTIFY ANY POTENTIAL FUTURE WORK PROJECTS 
 

44. The Panel was informed that, in terms of the Local Authority’s current responses, the 
issues of loneliness and/or social isolation are significant to Social Workers in the 
delivery of their role.   
 

45. As part of the core Adult Social Care assessment process, individuals are asked 
questions under a sub-heading entitled 'Developing and Maintaining Family or other 
Personal Relationships’.  This element of the assessment concerns the support 
individuals may need in order to maintain relationships with their family and other 
people important to them including, for example, their spouse or partner, relatives, 
friends, or other.  This area of questioning also extends into whether the person is 
feeling lonely and/or socially isolated, and is a clear acknowledgement that the social 
dimension of an individual’s life is as crucial to their well-being as their physical 
health.  In light of this, the Panel recognises that social contact is a crucial domain.   

 

46. The Panel appreciates that it is not possible for Adult Social Care or the wider Local 
Authority to address both loneliness and social isolation independently, and fully 
supports the partnership and joint working practice that is being undertaken. 

 
47. The work of wider voluntary organisations is fundamental to the reduction of 

loneliness and/or social isolation in later life.  Regarding MVDA’s Community 
Connect Service, for example, as the key issues around loneliness and/or social 
isolation relate significantly to social contact, and the provision of worthwhile activities 
that can support individuals’ health and well-being, this service offers a referral 
network to help achieve this.  Owing to the availability of resources, collaborative 
work is not only beneficial, but essential.  

 

48. The Panel recognises and appreciates the work being undertaken by staff within 
voluntary organisations in supporting individuals experiencing loneliness and/or 
social isolation.  Members are of the view that there are a lot of people that wish to 
volunteer and to offer their assistance; it is about ascertaining the amount of 
volunteering that individuals wish to undertake.  It is felt that, regardless of the 
amount of time volunteers can offer, even if only one hour per week, the difference 
that it makes to the person receiving the service/support is immeasurable. 

 

49. The Panel was advised that ABM has encountered difficulties in recruiting formal 
volunteers; the term 'volunteer’ will no longer be used by ABM.  It was explained that 
real community action comes from supporting people to get involved on their terms, 
in things that interest them, and disposing of the formality around this is important.  
The Panel heard that if people are invited and asked if they wish to help, this tends 
to be responded to more positively than if they are asked to join as a volunteer.  It 
may be that, in some but not all contexts, the term ‘helpers’ may be more appropriate. 

 
50. The Panel was appraised of various initiatives and activities being/recently 

undertaken with Black and Minority Ethnic (BME) and Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, and 
Transgender (LGBT) communities.  In addition to the British Red Cross currently 
focusing upon obtaining volunteers from different communities within Middlesbrough, 
a number of innovation fund projects are taking/had recently taken place, three of 
which are/were targeted towards obtaining a better understanding of loneliness 
and/or social isolation in respect of BME Communities.  These projects are/were 
being undertaken by NUR Fitness and Investing in People and Culture (IPC), in 
partnership with Middlesbrough Environment City.  Aapna Services has/had also 
been working with ABM on a number of BME related projects.  The Panel recognises 

Page 12



11 

 

the work being carried out in relation to Middlesbrough’s communities and supports 
this work.   

 
Private Sector Partners 

 

51. In addition to the aforementioned work being undertaken by public and voluntary 
sector organisations, the Panel was pleased to hear of partnership work being 
undertaken with private sector organisations, for example: Marks and Spencer and 
the Co-operative Group. 
 

52. Private sector organisations come into contact with individuals from all walks of life; 
people that do not require the support of Social Workers or Community Nurses, but 
who are experiencing feelings of loneliness and/or social isolation.  The Panel is of 
the view that the creation of a connected network that all organisations could engage 
in, irrespective of whether public, private or voluntary, could offer a potential route for 
further exploration. 

 

53. The Panel was provided with information regarding Marks and Spencer’s 'Plan A’ 
programme.  The Council’s Leadership Management Team had met with senior 
managers from Marks and Spencer to discuss the work being undertaken.  Marks 
and Spencer had established that there were ten cities/areas within the UK, of which 
Middlesbrough was one, where they recognised that because of particular indices of 
deprivation, work to benefit those communities would be undertaken.  One of the 
aims of this work was to connect people; Marks and Spencer had proposed to work 
with the Council on a number of fronts including the development of a befriending 
network to tackle loneliness and/or social isolation, which linked to the community 
well-being agenda.  Events in respect of this work have, to date, been held in Marks 
and Spencer's cafe.  

 

Befriending Support/Provision 
 

54. Over the course of the Panel’s investigation, issues around befriending 
support/provision in Middlesbrough have consistently been raised, with the view that 
provision could be extended. 
 

55. The Panel was informed of ABM’s ‘Peer Friendship Project’ that had been designed 
to recruit older volunteers to provide friendship, support and companionship to 
enable lonely and/or socially isolated older people to feel supported and able to move 
onto community activities.  This project had ceased in September 2017, as it had not 
worked in the anticipated way. 

 
56. Befriending services are currently being undertaken by Age UK Teesside in Stockton, 

Hartlepool and Redcar and Cleveland.  Owing to ABM previously providing peer 
friendship support, Age UK Teesside had not progressed this in Middlesbrough (so 
as to avoid duplication).  However, following the changes around this, as outlined in 
paragraph 55, the Panel notes that Age UK Teesside is currently advertising a post 
to co-ordinate a befriending service in Middlesbrough, to complement the established 
work that they already facilitate in Hartlepool, Stockton-on-Tees and Redcar and 
Cleveland.  

 
57. The Panel heard that, through the Community Connect Service model, there are two 

gaps in service provision that MVDA is currently aware of.  These relate to 
befriending and practical support such as assistance with shopping, the latter of 
which could be viewed as being part of a wide-ranging befriending offer.  The Panel 
understands that some early work has started to form in terms of an improved 

Page 13



12 

 

befriending model, which may not necessarily need to be funded solely by the public 
sector (if inward investment can be attracted).  The Panel looks forward to receiving 
an update in respect of this work in due course. 

 
58. Regarding the Middlesbrough Live at Home Scheme, it was explained to the Panel 

that a befriending service may be provided in the future.  The Scheme currently offers 
four activities in aiming to reduce loneliness and/or social isolation to those accessing 
services, i.e. a ‘pop-in’ activity session in Normanby; a good companions group in 
Marton; a lunch club; and a bingo group.  Once these activities are operating to full 
capacity and the foundations of the Scheme have been fully established, further 
development work will be pursued.  The Scheme takes referrals from all agencies 
across the area, including MVDA, and therefore partnership working will be a core 
element of any future development plans.  

 

59. The Panel recognises that there is a gap in befriending service provision and feels 
that further work is required with/between partners in fulfilling this need.  

 
TERM OF REFERENCE D: 

TO EXPLORE EFFECTIVE STRATEGIES AND INTERVENTIONS  
TO REDUCE LONELINESS AND/OR SOCIAL ISOLATION 

 

60. The Panel holds the view that, in order for any strategy or intervention to be effective, 
it is imperative that individuals are able to first acknowledge the need for support, 
and are then able to accept it.  The Panel feels that individual characteristics, 
psychological and behavioural traits may act as pre-cursors for feelings of loneliness 
and/or social isolation, or may be compounded by them – shyness and/or social 
anxiety, for example.  In order to ensure that support services can be actively 
engaged with, and provide effectiveness, it is important that individuals are able to 
successfully self-reflect and acknowledge their own situations. 
 

61. Perception plays such a significant role in respect of an individual’s experience of 
loneliness and/or isolation that support needs to be tailored and personalised – a 
‘one size fits all’ approach will not work.  Consequently, strategies need to be varied 
yet relevant if they are to be effective. 
 

62. As this report has identified, a significant amount of research, independent and 
partnership work has been carried out in the pursuit of achieving effective strategies 
and interventions to help reduce loneliness and/or social isolation in later life. 

 

63. In respect of the ABM programme and community development, the Panel 
understands that this is a significant project that delivers an Asset Based Community 
Development approach.  This community work builds upon the strengths and 
networks that are already in existence within communities in Middlesbrough, aiming 
to support people to enhance their involvement in community activity, and to support 
existing community activity.  The Panel feels that this increased engagement with 
older people will improve the understanding of loneliness and/or social isolation in 
communities within Middlesbrough, and assist in the identification of more workable, 
effective and efficient solutions.  The utilisation of community buildings and the 
delivery of community activities by ABM’s Members uses resources effectively, whilst 
concurrently involving individuals in activities with others.  The Panel supports this 
programme of work, particularly in light of the varying activities offered, which to date 
have included local history walks, Egyptology and belly dancing. 

 

Page 14



13 

 

64. The Panel was provided with a snap shot of the learning that ABM has achieved to 
date, which demonstrates how the programme is aiming to provide effective 
strategies and interventions. This includes: 

 

 Offering a tailored approach to make all the difference -  beneficiaries have 
indicated that they feel that ABM cares about them, e.g. employees and 
‘helpers’ listen to them, they return telephone calls and are interested in them 
as a person; and  

 Building trust and confidence is key to reducing loneliness and/or social 
isolation, but this requires time and consistency.  Although building 
relationships is resource intensive and expensive, it is fundamental.   

 
65. Over the course of the investigation, the notion of delivering support strategies and 

interventions to individuals considered as being ‘hard to reach’ or ‘under the radar’ 
has consistently been raised.  It was indicated to the Panel that such individuals, for 
example, do not visit their GP often, do not leave the house, and/or they do not 
socialise.  It was indicated to the Panel that work will continue to be undertaken to 
reach these individuals, however, due to the enormity of this, a partnership working 
approach will be required. 

 
66. In terms of identifying lonely and/or socially isolated individuals not already known to 

services, the Panel heard that one way to potentially address this is for those people 
participating in community groups/activities to refer and/or accompany their lonely 
and/or socially isolated neighbours to activity taster sessions.   

 
67. Regarding loneliness and/or social isolation in relation to information technology, 

previous research suggests that social media can help reduce loneliness in the 
elderly (Siddique, 2017 and Silver Charity, 2017).  However, the Panel is of the view 
that not everybody has access to or even wishes to use information technology 
and/or social media, and therefore may miss notifications of/invitations to local 
group/activities/events.  The Panel feels it is important that organisations remain 
mindful of this when publicising such groups/activities/events intended, in particular, 
for older people. 

 
68. Subsequent to paragraph 42, the Panel appreciates that, as a Local Authority, duties 

around the prevention agenda sits with the organisation.  Therefore, it is important to 
ensure that all employees are aware of how safeguarding issues can be identified 
and referred to the most appropriate place.  Further to the Mayor’s Vision: 
Middlesbrough 2025 document, in particular the ‘Fairer’ and ‘Safer’ Priorities detailed 
within it, the Panel is of the opinion that every service within the Local Authority needs 
to have an awareness of loneliness and/or social isolation, in order that preventative 
measures can be undertaken before incidents of loneliness and/or social isolation 
potentially progress to more serious safeguarding or medical concerns. 

 

69. Further to the notion that the Local Authority’s public-facing staff are in a primary 
position to recognise lonely and/or socially isolated individuals, the Panel also notes 
that employees themselves are not immune from feeling lonely and/or socially 
isolated.  Consequently, in terms of ensuring the health and well-being of all of those 
employed by the Local Authority, the Panel feels it is important to consider the 
dissemination of information throughout the organisation in order to raise awareness 
that colleagues too could be experiencing loneliness and/or social isolation. 

 
70. Members heard that Thirteen Housing Group’s Gas Engineers have received training 

to ensure that, should any issues be identified whilst inside a tenant’s home, a referral 
can be submitted to an appropriate support team.  Thirteen Housing Group also has 

Page 15



14 

 

tenancy support in place, which picks up particular issues such as hoarding (an 
example of the potential results of this is indicated at paragraph 29).  
 

71. The Panel was appraised of Thirteen Housing Group’s ‘New Homes Scheme’, 
whereby tenants are visited at the beginning of their tenancies and supported for a 
period of up to 12-weeks.  If this concerns an individual residing in older persons' 
accommodation, for example, staff will visit to ensure that they are receiving the 
correct benefits, that they have their heating on, etc.  Staff are trained to recognise 
and make referrals, e.g. in respect of financial matters and health-based concerns, 
such as the distribution of smoking blankets to excessive smokers. 

 

72. With regards to support offered within accommodation settings to assist in the 
reduction of loneliness and/or social isolation, the Panel notes that Thirteen Housing 
Group’s extra care schemes have catering facilities available on site, which 
encourages interaction.  Staff also encourage social interaction and make contact 
with people on at least a weekly basis, although this tends to be daily.  The staff 
check on progress to ascertain whether anything has changed, e.g. a deterioration 
in a resident’s well-being, which would be supported as appropriate.  Recognition of 
change, for example in relation to a tenant’s behaviour and/or appearance in 
sheltered accommodation, is significantly important in ensuring that people receive 
appropriate support.   

 

73. Staff working in extra care and sheltered accommodation properties have the 
opportunity to interact with tenants, to form relationships and to challenge in an 
approachable/friendly manner. Extra care and sheltered accommodation facilities 
are available to people aged 55 years-plus.  Sheltered accommodation consists 
mainly of bungalows and flats, with support usually being provided on site by a 
Warden, who makes weekly, though often daily, contact with tenants.  Some of the 
accommodation has communal facilities and activities on site for those that wish to 
participate in them; staff are not commissioned to provide these activities, but offer 
them nevertheless.  The staff work Monday-Friday 09:00-17:00 - outside of these 
hours pull cords are available for use which, when activated, send an alert to 
Middlesbrough Council staff for a response to be provided by care personnel.  In the 
case of extra care schemes, staff are located on site 24/7. 
 

74. The Panel feels that initiatives such as these, together with training in other areas 
such as safeguarding, could potentially help assist those deemed to be 'under the 
radar', and supports the work being undertaken.  However, the Panel remains 
mindful that this fundamental element of loneliness and/or social isolation requires 
on-going focus in order to ensure that support can be provided effectively and 
efficiently, both in respect of the individual’s health and in terms of meeting service 
demand and other pressures. 
 

75. The Panel recognises that, in order for a strategy or intervention to be successful, 
support needs to be person-centred and relevant to them.  For example, Members 
were informed of the work being carried out by the British Red Cross in tailoring the 
support service to individual clients’ needs.  Support is offered for an initial three-
month period, as required, with a personal support plan drawn up with the individual 
concerned in order to help them feel better connected and more involved in their 
local area.  The key is to treat people individually by supporting them in identifying 
opportunities that they would enjoy in the area close to their home.  Further support 
is available for individuals who may relapse or require additional assistance beyond 
the initial three-month period.  Services offered by the British Red Cross may link in 
with those offered by other organisations, and therefore longer support may be 
available.  On a related note, the Panel appreciates that individuals with particularly 
complex issues, such as acute mental issues or a dependency upon drugs and/or 

Page 16



15 

 

alcohol, may initially be referred to a different organisation for support in respect of 
those, before loneliness and/or social isolation-related issues can be addressed. 

 
76. The Panel understands that Cleveland Fire Brigade is the only Fire Service in the 

country that delivers Herbert Protocol.  This is a Police strategy whereby if a person 
with dementia disappears and is later found without any form of identification, they 
will be taken to one of two care homes that provides specialist dementia care, as 
opposed to being taken to a Police custody cell.  One care home is based in Redcar 
and one in Saltburn.  This process allows time for the Police to make enquiries and 
identify the individual, whilst that individual receives specialist care. 

 

77. In a similar manner to Hebert Protocol, Members were appraised of the ‘Safe Place 
Scheme’, which helps to identify and support vulnerable people.  The ‘Safe Place 
Scheme’ consists of a number of venues in Middlesbrough and throughout the Tees 
Valley, including Libraries, Community Hubs, Council buildings and Fire Stations.  
There are around 15 venues in Middlesbrough at present.  It is about ensuring that 
people who feel vulnerable, whether this is related to mental health, physical health, 
feeling intimidated by something or something, etc., can enter one of these venues 
and receive assistance and support from trained staff. 

 

78. The Panel notes that if any Member or officer of the Local Authority, or any of its 
partners, identifies a vulnerable person, that individual can be referred onto the 
Neighbourhood Safety Officer as the lead for victimisation for Middlesbrough 
Council.  The Local Authority, in partnership with organisations including Cleveland 
Police and Thirteen Housing Group, utilises a system entitled ‘E-CINS’.  This system 
allows for information on vulnerable individuals, and others, to be recorded and 
shared amongst those multi-agency partners.  The data is kept and utilised in 
accordance with the appropriate legislative frameworks.    

 

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION/EVIDENCE 
 

Working Party Meetings – Transport Issues 
 

79. Research suggests that the first 100 yards is important in terms of older people being 
able to access bus services.  Public information needs to include how to get to the 
bus; timings of the bus; location of services, etc.  Arriva has carried out work on digital 
inclusion. 

 
80. In some rural areas social enterprises have been established to include schemes for 

buses to hire. 
 

81. ABM produced a paper entitled ‘Older People and Transport - An Overview of the 
Learning’. The Ageing Better Middlesbrough Core Partnership has prioritised 
transport for exploration /commissioning.  A proposal document is due to go to the 
Core Partnership before the end of March to establish a project in this area of work.  

 
82. ABM is hoping to meet with key individuals in the next few months to connect the 

programme to wider transport consultation and development including 
Middlesbrough Council and Tees Valley Combined Authority. 

 
 

83. The working party discussed the following key issues:  
 

 People who are housebound;  

 Carers who are unable to use transport;  

Page 17



16 

 

 The use of transport for appointments;  

 The attitudes of bus drivers and taxi drivers who are not always friendly; 

 Distance to bus stops, bus routes and times;  

 The physical environment, loss of confidence and fear; and  

 The high cost of wheelchair accessible taxis. 
 

84. Some suggestions to resolve the issues are low cost and high impact, e.g. locating 
seating on the way to the bus stops and in shopping centres.   

 
85. Setting up local bus services, e.g. the service in Nunthorpe and Coulby Newham, 

and the training of taxi and bus drivers in terms of how they support lonely and 
vulnerable adults, was seen to be effective. 

 

86. The working party supported the recommendations put forward in the Economic 
Development and Infrastructure Scrutiny Panel’s report on the ‘Tees Valley Strategic 
Transport Plan Including Bus Franchising’. 

 
87. Panel Members heard that services after 18:00 were very few and this meant that 

many people, reliant on public transport, were unable to access social events. 
 

Middlesbrough Council - Current Loneliness and/or Social Isolation-related Work 
 

88. The Panel is aware that a work project is currently being undertaken by officers in 
the Local Authority’s Social Care department in relation to loneliness and/or social 
isolation.  This work is not yet at a stage where findings can be included in this report; 
however, the Panel welcomes the news that work is being carried out and looks 
forward to learning of the outcomes in due course. 

 

CONCLUSIONS 
 

89. The Scrutiny Panel reached the following conclusions in respect of its investigation: 
 

90. Perception is a key factor in feelings of loneliness and/or social isolation – what may 
make one person feel lonely may not make another person feel lonely.  This could 
relate to such matters as the fear of crime; pre-existing personality and behavioural 
traits; life experience, etc. 

 
91. Feelings of loneliness and/or social isolation can have a severe impact on physical 

and mental health, as well as overall well-being. 
 

92. Loneliness and/or social isolation can affect any person at any point in their lifetime, 
and not just older people.  It is important to recognise that key life transitions/factors, 
such as bereavement and children leaving home, are potential causes of loneliness 
and/or social isolation. 

 
93. Feelings of loneliness and/or social isolation can occur at any time of the year, 

although there are times of the year that can be particularly acute. 
 

94. There are individuals unknown to services (deemed ‘hard to reach’ or ‘under the 
radar’) who are experiencing feelings of loneliness and/or social isolation.  Further 
consideration is required as to why this may be, e.g. are services difficult to find, or 
is there a difficultly for individuals, resource-wise, to access services.  

 
95. For those individuals accessing services, it must be borne in mind that there is no 

‘one size fits all’ approach to addressing feelings of loneliness and/or social isolation; 

Page 18



17 

 

support needs to be tailored/personalised.  Trust, confidence and relationship-
building are key components of this. 

 
96. Voluntary organisations are fundamental to the support offered to individuals feeling 

lonely and/or socially isolated. 
 

97. Partnership and networking is crucial in the addressing of loneliness and/or social 
isolation.  Funding is an issue for providers, particularly for smaller groups and 
organisations.  Joint initiatives mean that partners can share funding, as well as other 
resources such as accommodation, knowledge and experience. 

 
98. Transport is a key barrier for some people attending social activities, events, visiting 

people, etc., which can mean that feelings of loneliness and/or social isolations can 
never be fully addressed until these transport issues have been rectified. 

 
99. With regards to gaps in service provision, the Panel recognises that there is a need 

for befriending services to be developed within Middlesbrough and feels that further 
work is required with/between partners in fulfilling this need.   

 
100. Every Local Authority service needs to have an awareness of loneliness and/or social 

isolation.  Personnel who are public facing need to be trained in safeguarding and 
loneliness and/or social isolation issues, and have knowledge of appropriate referral 
routes. 
 

101. The Panel both recognises and supports the work that is taking place in respect of 
BME Communities and to individuals outside of the ‘later life’ demographic, who are 
experiencing feelings of loneliness and/or social isolation. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

102. As a result of the information received, and based on the conclusions above, the 
Social Care and Adult Services Scrutiny Panel’s recommendations for consideration 
are as follows: 
 
a) That the Local Authority engages with as many different agencies and 

businesses as possible in order to play an active role in further developing and 
promoting support initiatives for those experiencing loneliness and/or social 
isolation.  An example of such an initiative is Marks and Spencer’s Community 
Transformation Programme, developed as part of the organisation’s ‘Plan A 
2025’. 
 

b) That the Local Authority works in partnership with MVDA and other appropriate 
voluntary sector organisations to further develop befriending support provision in 
Middlesbrough. 

 

c) That an awareness-raising campaign for members of the public be developed in 
conjunction with the Marketing and Communications Team, in order to improve 
access to support services and/or referral routes.  Publicity methods could 
include: Local media/radio such as Community Voice FM; Physical stalls in the 
Town Centre and at public events; The Council’s website and ‘Love 
Middlesbrough’ magazine; Public service/utility vehicles; Community Hubs; 
Voluntary organisations; Private sector businesses, etc. 

 

d) That training and awareness sessions dedicated to the issues of loneliness and 
social isolation be implemented for all staff.  These could include: 

Page 19



18 

 

 
i.) Online training via ‘Middlesbrough Learns’; 
ii.) Face-to-face briefings; and 
iii.) Advice and information on the intranet. 

 
e) That an awareness-raising briefing be scheduled for all Elected Members in 

respect of the issues surrounding loneliness and social isolation. 
 

f) That, to facilitate engagement in support activities, the Local Authority works with 
partners to improve transport provision for Service Users, including bus and taxi 
operators.  

 

g) That a wider piece of work be undertaken to encompass other demographics, 
such as young people, when discussing loneliness and/or social isolation.  For 
example: further Scrutiny investigation by the Ad Hoc Scrutiny Panel.  
 

h) That the early evaluation reports of ABM be submitted to the SCASSP, for 
information. 
 

i) That each service directorate considers how support can be provided to the 
reducing loneliness and/or social isolation agenda.  

 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 

103. The Social Care and Adult Services Scrutiny Panel would like to thank the following 
for their assistance with its work: 
 

 C Boshier – Community Connector, British Red Cross; 

 M Davis – Chief Executive, MVDA; 

 M Dawson – Programme Manager, ABM; 

 J Dodds – Senior Independent Living Manager, Thirteen Housing Group; 

 M Homer – Member of ABMAG and Chair of the Core Partnership; 

 C Joynes – Director of Customer Support Services, Thirteen Housing Group; 

 J Pearce – Neighbourhood Safety Officer, Middlesbrough Council; 

 A Peirson – Fire Prevention and Improvement Development Manager, Cleveland 
Fire Authority;  

 E Scollay – Director of Adult Social Care and Health Integration, Middlesbrough 
Council; 

 D Snaith – Acting Chief Inspector, Cleveland Police; 

 A Sykes – Chief Executive, Age UK Teesside; and 

 P Taylor – Live at Home Manager, Middlesbrough Live at Home Scheme. 
 

ACRONYMS 
 

104. A-Z listing of acronyms used in the report: 
 

 ABM – Ageing Better Middlesbrough; 

 ABMAG – Ageing Better Middlesbrough Action Group; 

 ASB – Anti-Social Behaviour; 

 BME – Black and Minority Ethnic; 

 GP – General Practitioner; 

 IPC – Investing in People and Culture; 

 LGBT – Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, and Transgender; 

 MVDA – Middlesbrough Voluntary Development Agency; 

Page 20



19 

 

 NHS – National Health Service; 

 PCSO – Police Community Support Officer; and 

 STP – Sustainability and Transformation Plan. 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

105. The following sources were consulted, or referred to, in preparing this report: 
 

 Reports to, and Minutes of, the Social Care and Adult Services Scrutiny Panel 
meetings held on 20 September 2017, 23 October 2017, 13 November 2017, 20 
December 2017, 17 January 2018 and 12 February 2018. 

 Age UK, 2018, ‘Loneliness Maps’, https://www.ageuk.org.uk/our-impact/policy-
research/loneliness-research-and-resources/loneliness-maps/  
- accessed various dates (December 2017 - March 2018). 

 British Red Cross and Co-operative Group, 2016, ‘Escaping the Bubble: Working 
Together to Tackle Loneliness and Social Isolation Across the UK’, UK.  

 Caldwell et al., 2017, ‘Working Together: Reducing Chronic Loneliness in the 
North East’, Age UK North of Tyne and Gateshead, UK. 

 Campaign to End Loneliness, 2015, ‘Promising Approaches to Reducing 
Loneliness and Isolation’, 
https://www.campaigntoendloneliness.org/blog/promising-approaches/ - 
accessed September 2017. 

 Campaign to End Loneliness, 2016, ‘The Missing Million: A Practical Guide to 
Identifying and Talking About Loneliness’, 
https://www.campaigntoendloneliness.org/blog/the-missing-million-a-practical-
guide-to-identifying-and-talking-about-loneliness/ - accessed September 2017. 

 Carter, T., 2017, ‘Measuring National Well-being: Life in the UK, Apr 2017’, 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/well-
being/articles/measuringnationalwell-being/2015-10-01 - accessed January 
2018. 

 Coughlan, S., 2017, ‘Loneliness: The Cost of the 'Last Taboo’, 
http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/education-41349219 - accessed September 2017. 

 Davidson, S., and Rossall, P., 2014, ‘Age UK Loneliness Evidence Review’, Age 
UK, UK.  

 Family Action, 2013, ‘No More Lonely Christmases: How Family Action is 
Building Stronger Families’, UK. 

 Jo Cox Commission on Loneliness, 2017, 
https://www.jocoxloneliness.org/loneliness - accessed various dates 
(September 2017 - March 2018). 

 Jopling, K., 2015, ‘Campaign to End Loneliness: Promising Approaches to 
Reducing Loneliness and Isolation in Later Life’, Age UK, UK. 

 Local Government Association, 2017, ‘Case study - Combating Loneliness: A 
Guide for Local Authorities’, https://www.local.gov.uk/case-study-combating-
loneliness-guide-local-authorities - accessed November 2017. 

 McCann, F., 2017, ‘Loneliness on the Rise: One in Eight People Have no Close 
Friends to Turn to’, https://www.express.co.uk/news/uk/773002/One-in-eight-
people-faced-with-loneliness - accessed November 2017. 
 
 

 NHS, 2015, ‘Hoarding Disorder’,  
https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/hoarding-disorder/ - accessed January 2018. 

 O’Grady, S., 2017, ‘Chatline for Lonely Elderly Overwhelmed as 5,000 Calls 
Unanswered over Christmas’, 
https://www.express.co.uk/news/uk/753949/chatline-lonely-elderly-

Page 21

https://www.ageuk.org.uk/our-impact/policy-research/loneliness-research-and-resources/loneliness-maps/
https://www.ageuk.org.uk/our-impact/policy-research/loneliness-research-and-resources/loneliness-maps/
https://www.campaigntoendloneliness.org/blog/promising-approaches/
https://www.campaigntoendloneliness.org/blog/the-missing-million-a-practical-guide-to-identifying-and-talking-about-loneliness/
https://www.campaigntoendloneliness.org/blog/the-missing-million-a-practical-guide-to-identifying-and-talking-about-loneliness/
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/articles/measuringnationalwellbeing/2015-10-01
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/articles/measuringnationalwellbeing/2015-10-01
http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/education-41349219
https://www.jocoxloneliness.org/loneliness
https://www.local.gov.uk/case-study-combating-loneliness-guide-local-authorities
https://www.local.gov.uk/case-study-combating-loneliness-guide-local-authorities
https://www.express.co.uk/news/uk/773002/One-in-eight-people-faced-with-loneliness
https://www.express.co.uk/news/uk/773002/One-in-eight-people-faced-with-loneliness
https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/hoarding-disorder/
https://www.express.co.uk/news/uk/753949/chatline-lonely-elderly-overwhelmed-christmas-charity-unanswered-calls-esther-rantzen


20 

 

overwhelmed-christmas-charity-unanswered-calls-esther-rantzen - accessed 
December 2017. 

 Powell, T., 2018, ’Theresa May appoints Tracey Crouch as UK's first minister for 
loneliness to continue Jo Cox's work’,  
https://www.standard.co.uk/news/politics/theresa-may-appoints-tracey-crouch-
as-uks-first-minister-for-loneliness-to-continue-jo-coxs-work-a3741956.html - 
accessed January 2018. 

 Sheppard, E., 2017, 'It’s Like Being Reborn': Inside the Care Home Opening its 

Doors to Toddlers’, https://www.theguardian.com/social-care-

network/2017/sep/06/care-home-toddlers-nursery - accessed November 2017. 

 Siddique, H., 2017, ‘Three-quarters of older people in the UK are lonely, survey 
finds’, https://www.theguardian.com/society/2017/mar/21/three-quarters-of-
older-people-in-the-uk-are-lonely-survey-finds - accessed December 2017. 

 Silver Charity, 2017, ‘Can Social Media Fight Loneliness in the Elderly’, 
http://silvercharity.org/archives/736 - accessed February 2018. 

 Walker, P., 2018, ‘May appoints minister to tackle loneliness issues raised by 
Jo Cox’, https://www.theguardian.com/society/2018/jan/16/may-appoints-
minister-tackle-loneliness-issues-raised-jo-cox - accessed January 2018. 

 Williams, B., et al., 2013, ‘Lifecourse Tracker: Wave Two Report, Survey 
Report’, Public Health England, London, UK.  

 
 
 

COUNCILLOR JULIE MCGEE 
CHAIR OF THE SOCIAL CARE AND ADULT SERVICES SCRUTINY PANEL – 

2017/2018 
 
 

MEMBERSHIP 
 

The Membership of the Scrutiny Panel for 2017/2018 is as follows: 
  
Councillors J McGee (Chair), J Walker (Vice-Chair), D Coupe, D Davison, E Dryden,  
T Higgins, L McGloin, Z Uddin and M Walters. 

 
 
 
Contact Officer: 

 
Chris Lunn 
Democratic Services Officer 
Telephone: 01642 729742 (direct line) 
E-mail: chris_lunn@middlesbrough.gov.uk 

Page 22

https://www.express.co.uk/news/uk/753949/chatline-lonely-elderly-overwhelmed-christmas-charity-unanswered-calls-esther-rantzen
https://www.standard.co.uk/news/politics/theresa-may-appoints-tracey-crouch-as-uks-first-minister-for-loneliness-to-continue-jo-coxs-work-a3741956.html
https://www.standard.co.uk/news/politics/theresa-may-appoints-tracey-crouch-as-uks-first-minister-for-loneliness-to-continue-jo-coxs-work-a3741956.html
https://www.theguardian.com/social-care-network/2017/sep/06/care-home-toddlers-nursery
https://www.theguardian.com/social-care-network/2017/sep/06/care-home-toddlers-nursery
https://www.theguardian.com/society/2017/mar/21/three-quarters-of-older-people-in-the-uk-are-lonely-survey-finds
https://www.theguardian.com/society/2017/mar/21/three-quarters-of-older-people-in-the-uk-are-lonely-survey-finds
http://silvercharity.org/archives/736
https://www.theguardian.com/society/2018/jan/16/may-appoints-minister-tackle-loneliness-issues-raised-jo-cox%20-%20accessed%20January%202018
https://www.theguardian.com/society/2018/jan/16/may-appoints-minister-tackle-loneliness-issues-raised-jo-cox%20-%20accessed%20January%202018
mailto:chris_lunn@middlesbrough.gov.uk


1  

ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND SERVICE SCRUTINY PANEL 
REDUCING LONELINESS AND/OR SOCIAL ISOLATION IN LATER LIFE – ACTION PLAN  

Submitted to Executive on 4 SEPTEMBER 2018  

Update to the Scrutiny Panel- 11 November 2020 

SCRUTINY RECOMMENDATION PROPOSED 

ACTION 

POST TITLE BUDGET 

COST 

TIMESCALE Update as of 11 

November 2020 

a) That the Local Authority engages with as 
many different agencies and businesses 
as possible in order to play an active role 
in further developing and promoting 
support initiatives for those experiencing 
loneliness and/or social isolation. An 
example of such an initiative is Marks and 
Spencer’s Community Transformation 
Programme, developed as part of the 
organisation’s ‘Plan A 2025’. 

The Local Authority is 
a key partner in 
Ageing Better 
Middlesbrough, with 
the Head of 
Commissioning and 
Procurement as Vice 
Chair of the 
Partnership Board. 
This Board is focused 
on working with 
partners to improve 
the collective 
response to 
loneliness and 
isolation. This work 
involves Marks and 
Spencer’s as a 
partner and will be 
further rolled out 
through the Age 
Friendly 
Middlesbrough 
initiative. 

Head of 
Commissioning 
and Procurement 

In current 
budget 

End of March 
2019 

Ageing Better has 
been particularly 
proactive during the 
covid pandemic : 
 
Implementing a 
Telephone 
Befriending service 
  

Development of new 
digital partnership – 
bridging the digital 
divide  
 
Providing advise and 
support to residents 
on technology and 
digital platforms 
 
Provision of mental 
health therapies 
 
Support for social 
prescribing  
development work 
 
Progressing the Age 
friendly Iniaitive  
 
Delivering food parcel 
and other supports to 
older vulnerable 

P
age 23



2  

people 
 
Ageing Better have 
published a number of 
learning reports – all 
of which are availble 
on their website: 
Ageingbettermiddlesb
rough.org.uk 
 
Reports are on: 

 Chronic 
loneliness 

 Digital 
Inclusion 

 Age – friendly 
– micro 
funding 
support to 
community 
groups 

 New ways of 
working – 
covid 19 

 Bereavement 

 Intergeneratio
n learning 

 Evening and 
weekend 
loneliness 

 
And many others 
including evaluation 
reports regarding the 
overall programme 
 

P
age 24



3  

b) That the Local Authority works in 
partnership with MVDA and other 
appropriate voluntary sector 
organisations to further develop 
befriending support provision in 
Middlesbrough. 

Volunteer Befriending 
Project has now been 
established and is 
operational, working 
with Age UK. 

 

 
Additionally, the LA is 
working with MVDA to 
make a submission for 
funding to the Big 
Lottery Fund to 
establish an all-age 
befriending model. 

Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health Integration 

 

 
Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health Integration 

In current Better 
Care Fund 
budget 

 
N/A 

Action 
Complete 

 
 

Bid submission 
September 2018 

 Within 
Middlesbrough 
we currently 
have: 
A befriending 
service operated 
by Age Uk 
 
A telephone 
befriending serve 
operated by 
Ageing Better 
Middlesbrough 

c) That an awareness-raising campaign 
for members of the public be developed 
in conjunction with the Marketing and 
Communications Team, in order to 
improve access to support services 
and/or referral routes. Publicity methods 
could include: Local media/radio such as 
Community Voice FM; Physical stalls in 
the Town Centre and at public events; 
The Council’s website and ‘Love 
Middlesbrough’ magazine; Public 
service/utility vehicles; Community 
Hubs; Voluntary organisations; Private 
sector businesses, etc. 

Campaign to be 
developed in 
conjunction with 
the Marketing 
and 
Communications 
Team. 

Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health Integration 

tbc End of October 
2018 

Publicity and 
awareness raising has 
been developed and 
delivered by Ageing 
Better on behalf of 
Middlesbrough Council 
using Big Lottery 
funding.  This work is 
on-going.  

P
age 25



4  

 

     

d) That training and awareness sessions 
dedicated to the issues of loneliness and 
social isolation be implemented for all staff. 
These could include: 

 

i) Online training via 
‘Middlesbrough Learns’; 

ii) Face-to-face briefings; and 

iii) Advice and information on the 
intranet. 

Training module for social care staff and the 
broader Council workforce to be developed 
utilising Middlesbrough Learns. 

 
 
 
 
 
Council website to be reviewed to reflect 
loneliness and isolation and the provision of 
appropriate advice and support. 

Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health Integration 

 

 
 
 
 
Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health Integration 

tbc 

 
 
 

 

 

None 
identified 

Action complete for 
Adult Social Care 
staff using CC 
Inform system 
(rather than 
Middlesbrough  
Learns) 

 
Website 
reviewed to 
reflect issue 
but further 
work will be 
required in 
the context 
of COVID-
19  

e) That an awareness-raising briefing be scheduled 
for all Elected Members in respect of the issues 
surrounding loneliness and social isolation. 

Briefing to Elected Members scheduled to take 
place prior to Council meeting on 21.11.2018. 

Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health Integration 

N/A Action complete. 
Briefing to Elected 
Members took 
place on04/03/19  

f) That, to facilitate engagement in support 
activities, the Local Authority works with 
partners to improve transport provision for 
Service Users, including bus and taxi 
operators. 

(Scrutiny officer to refer to Environment 
Scrutiny for further consideration?) 

 

Bus shelters in Middlesbrough are 

owned and maintained by Clear 

Channel. If there are identified 

 
 

Planning and 
Delivery Manager 

 
 

To be 
determined 

 
 

To be 
determined 

P
age 26



5  

 shelters where seating is required, the Council 
would require the locations and then would 
work with Clear Channel to identify and 
provide seating in the shelters. This will be 
dependent on the age and condition of the 
shelter, as to if new seating is installed or held 
until a replacement shelter is identified to 
enable a prudent use of resource. 

 
Bus services in Middlesbrough are provided 
by private sector operators. However, the 
Council is in a Tees Valley Quality 
Partnership with all operators – and is in 
regular dialogue with the operators to 
improve the offer of services across the town. 
The operators do decide where they run 
services depending on patronage and the 
need for a service after 6pm and on 
weekends. Operators sometimes provide 
certain services later on in the day, even if 
not profitable. However, this is likely offset 
from another route within their fleet. The 
Council will continue to have dialogue with 
the operators regarding this issue of providing 
more services after 6pm. If there are 
particular areas of the town where residents / 
Councillors feel this is required, please 
continue to share this to the Transport & 
Infrastructure Department. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Planning and 
Delivery Manager 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
To be 
determined 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
To be 
determined 

P
age 27



6  

 

 The Council works with operators to ensure 
they support our most vulnerable bus users 
via independent travel training and other 
initiative, but will raise this issue about 
training their drivers to support lonely and 
vulnerable bus users. 

 
Within the Council’s Taxi policy, vulnerability 
training for new drivers is insisted upon, but 
this is focused mainly around CSE issues and 
transporting vulnerable adult passengers (who 
may be intoxicated). It touches on assisting 
elderly passengers, but not in any great detail. 

 
The Council also has a Code of Conduct for all 
drivers to follow when working with Vulnerable 
Passengers – whether that vulnerability is 
through age or disability, but there is no 
training element to it and it covers how the 
Council expects them to behave. 

 
Officers are working with Public Health and 
some of the Council’s larger taxi operators to 
offer Dementia Friendly Training to drivers, 
however, this is a voluntary initiative and is 
only in the early stages. 

Planning and 
Delivery Manager 

 
 
 
 
 

Licensing 
Manager 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Licensing 
Manager 

 
 
 
 
 

Licensing 
Manager 

To be 
determined 

 
 
 
 
 

N/A 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
N/A 

 
 
 
 
 

 
To be 
determined 

To be 
determined 

 
 
 
 
 

On-going 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
On-going 

 
 
 
 
 
To date Officers 
from Public Health 
have carried out 4 
Dementia Friendly 
training sessions 
with drivers from 
Boro Cars, the 
largest PH Operator 
in the area. They 
have also agreed to 
provide further 
training on an 
ongoing basis. 
 

 bv

P
age 28



7  

 

g) That a wider piece of work be undertaken to 
encompass other demographics, such as 
young people, when discussing loneliness 
and/or social isolation. For example: further 
Scrutiny investigation by the Ad Hoc Scrutiny 
Panel. 

Greater understanding of other 
demographics will be developed through the 
currently on-going refresh of the Joint 
Strategic Needs Assessment. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Recommendation will be made for further 
scrutiny of the issue by the Ad Hoc Scrutiny 
Panel. 

Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health Integration 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health Integration 

In current 
budget 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

None 
identified 

Draft adult 
JSNA was 
developed 
(reflecting 
broader 
demographics) 
 
JSNA not 
completed and 
approach will 
require review 
in the context 
of COVID-19 / 
Strategic Plan.   

 

Action 
outstanding 
pending 
completion of 
JSNA. 

h) That the early evaluation reports of ABM be 
submitted to the SCASSP, for information. 

As Vice Chair of the Ageing Better 
Partnership, the Head of Commissioning and 
Procurement will circulate evaluation reports 
to the SCASSP as they become available. 

Head of 
Commissioning and 
Procurement 

N/A All learning report from 

Ageing Better are 

published on Ageing 

Better Middlesbrough 

website  

i) That each service directorate considers 
how support can be provided to the 
reducing loneliness and/or social isolation 
agenda. 

Director of Adult Social care and Health 
Integration will present this issue at the 
Council’s Head of Service Briefing to initiate 
work with directorate senior management 
teams. 

Director of Adult 
Social Care and 
Health Integration 

N/A Action complete 
though further, similar 
review will be 
considered in the 
context of COVID-19 
and the Strategic 
Plan. 

 

P
age 29



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Age Friendly 
Middlesbrough Fund

Ageing Better Middlesbrough 

October 2020

Micro funding to support community groups

Page 31



About this report
Our programme has put this report together to celebrate the contribution community

groups are making towards Middlesbrough becoming more age friendly. 

We want to share our learning about supporting community groups through micro-

funding. Funding opportunities like this can make a big difference to community groups

who find it difficult or wouldn’t normally consider applying for other forms of public

funding. 

However, we have found that development support is essential to reach grassroots

community groups.

Ageing Better Middlesbrough is a National

Lottery Community Funded programme. 

We find out what works to reduce loneliness and

isolation for people who are aged over 50 and

live in Middlesbrough. 

We are part of a national Ageing Better

Programme – a £78 million investment of The

National Lottery Community Fund to support

people in later life.

We work across Middlesbrough in lots of

different ways to help reduce loneliness and

isolation in people who are over 50. 

Ageing Better Middlesbrough 

Our vision is that older

people live happy and

healthy lives. 

2

Page 32



Although groups

could apply for

up to £3000, 

most awards

were between

£500 and £1500.

Support volunteer-led grassroots community groups
to make Middlesbrough more age friendly.  

Incentivise community groups to work with the
Ageing Better Middlesbrough Community
Development Team in terms of capacity building. 

Raise awareness of the wider age friendly agenda.

In the summer of 2019, we awarded 32 community
groups and organisations from across Middlesbrough
£30,000 in total. 

The fund was created to:

Our Community Development Team promoted the fund
and supported most applicants to apply. 

www.lush.com    |    45

Holistic Care Centre -Pets Shed
Brushstrokes

3

Page 33



Volunteers valued the opportunity to be

involved in a process that had a direct

impact on the ground at a grassroots level. 

They were keen to see that awards

made the biggest difference possible,

ensuring value for money. They also

wanted to support community groups that

had the potential to attract new members

and grow.

Each application was considered

against the following criteria: 

Co-production

Volunteers were keen to maximise the

reach and impact of the fund. 

Awards were made by focusing on the

core aspects of applications and awarding

partial funding to the bits the panel thought

would make the biggest difference. 

This meant more awards could be made

to a bigger number of groups.

4

Co-production and the Age Friendly Fund

The Age Friendly Fund was co-produced with

the Ageing Better Middlesbrough Action

Group (ABMAG), a group of volunteers all

aged over 50 who help steer the age friendly

communities work.

 

ABMAG and programme staff collaborated to

design the application process, funding

criteria, application form and accompanying

guidance.

Will the activity make

Middlesbrough more age

friendly?

1

Does the activity involve

people aged over 50?

3

4

Would the application have a

long-term impact? Will people

continue to benefit over time?

How many people will benefit?

Is the application for something

new or duplicating existing

provision?

2

5

Co-production for our Age Friendly Fund is

about engaging with those intended to

benefit from the funding (people over 50

living in Middlesbrough), at an equal level. 

It’s a partnership between volunteers and

staff to design and deliver the process

together.

Impact

Page 34



Key learning from our Age Friendly Fund

Staff have fed back that groups from more

deprived areas are less likely to be open to

engaging with public funding because of a

suspicion of perceived authority and are

less likely to have previous experience of

funding processes. Additional support has

been needed to overcome some of these

barriers.

Especially groups who find it difficult or

wouldn’t normally consider applying for

other forms of public funding.

A good range of groups applied to the fund

although the programme would always like

to attract new groups to work with our

Community Development Team.

Just over half (56%) of applications came

from groups in Middlesbrough based in

the 1% most deprived Wards nationally. 

Over three-quarters (80%) came from

groups based in the 25% most deprived

Wards nationally.

Community Ventures 

5

Funding opportunities like this can make a big difference to
community groups. 

Not all groups are seeking development support or want to expand

or change.

Some groups are made up of longstanding friends who want to continue as they are.

  

Some applicants created a wish list of things rather than applying

for the things they really needed.

We decided to set the upper limit for applications at £3000. The panel felt that this resulted in

some applicants creating a wish list of things rather than applying for the things they really

needed.This maximum amount also attracted some public and third sector organisations to

apply. 

Moving forward, our panel have recommended reducing the maximum amount to £1000 to

benefit smaller grassroots community groups.

Page 35



Existing Twitter followers

Wrap around development support is essential to reach
grassroots community groups. 

New for Q1

Administering a fund like this is resource intensive.

In addition to community development

support, there was a significant amount of

administrative resource required to support

the process. 

To promote the fund

Discuss a possible application and

refine ideas

Finalise the application

Explain awards and decisions made

by the panel

Deliver equipment bought by the fund

Follow up with groups to find out how

they were doing post award and

whether they needed any further

support

Our Community Development Team

identified groups that could benefit from the

fund and supported them to apply.

  

6

Staff visited most of the groups on

several occasions before and after the

funding was awarded for a range of

purposes including:

Oakwood Court residents

Groups often had interesting ideas but

needed help to get their vision down on

paper in the format required by the funding

process.

We could not forward awards directly to

community groups, instead we had to

source and buy items and services and

then pass them on the groups. This was

particularly resource intensive. 

Can She Fix It group 

Processing applications, preparing papers

for the panel, liaising with community

groups about awards and purchasing

goods and services all takes significant

time.

  

Page 36



Staff provided additional support to the

panel by acting as a link to groups applying,

answering queries from panel members

where they could and liaising with groups

when further information was needed.

Our volunteers highlighted that support for

groups to apply and implement awards was

crucial and resulted in a higher quality of

application. 

Staff were also a key source of information,

providing expertise and knowledge around

things like venue and equipment costs to

the panel.

 

Although the process has been successful,

there are some things that we have learned

that can improve the experience for

volunteers and the process overall.

 

Volunteer learning: 

- The demands on volunteer’s time and

energy was high. Because of the

number of applications in a short space

of time, meetings sometimes lasted

three to four hours.

- Some volunteers felt pressure to

make and get decisions to applicants

quickly.

- Decision making could have been

spread out by holding shorter meetings

over a longer period to avoid volunteer

fatigue. 

 

- Some panel members had previous

or current experience of some of the

groups applying. 

- To avoid a conflict of interest panel

members did not take part in

discussion/decisions with these groups.

- A grading system was introduced to

the process which made it easier for

the panel to score applications and

reassure them that the decisions were

fair and consistent.

7

Supporting our volunteers
to be involved in co-production.
ABMAG have the ongoing support of an Involvement and Support Officer, who provides

practical, emotional and administrative support so members can take a full and active role in the

decision making process. One to one support is provided as required, according to individual

needs. 

Page 37



How the awards have helped groups.

Existing Twitter followers

Funds like the Age Friendly Fund can make a big difference for small community groups,

providing a real lift.  The groups supported so far estimate they will engage up to 1800

people.

  

8

Thorntree Art Group
After piloting a community art project Community Ventures wanted to continue a weekly

volunteer-led art workshop to improve social connections, self-esteem and overall wellbeing

of people. 

They also wanted to promote community spirit and pride. The project has been successful in

bringing people together of all ages to create pieces of art and to share stories behind their

pictures. 

“It’s not only an art class,

it is a lifeline.  Everyone is

so welcoming." 

                        Mandy, group

member

The Age Friendly Fund bought equipment and paid for training for staff members to run the

project. The art group now attracts people from different age groups. Mandy who is over 50

and attends the group with her daughter said,

Watch our video about the Art Group

For more information about the group contact Community Ventures,

The Greenway, Middlesbrough TS3 9PA

Telephone number: 01642 989254
Page 38

http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Rv41p77PjXY&feature=youtu.be


Our Community Development team was approached by two Ageing Better Middlesbrough

members who were looking for help to start a new art group. We identified a suitable venue

and helped the group attract new members by advertising taster sessions in our quarterly

What’s On Guide and Newsletter. 

The group was supported to apply to the Age Friendly Fund for equipment that could be used

by new members and to cover the initial cost of venue hire and a tutor to give the group a

chance to establish themselves.

 

Brushstrokes
Brushstrokes is a newly formed community group that meets to get creative with paints,

pastels and water colours.

 

The group meets weekly to improve skills, meet like-minded people and enjoy their hobby

together.  They also want to nurture artists and enable them to display their work at local

events. Although open to everyone, the group is based in Sunnyside Community Centre

which is a residential scheme for older people. Residents attending the group feel more

connected to their local community and some lovely friendships have formed.

For more information about the group contact please call: 01642 257053

 

“It is two hours of forgetting about

other things in your life and just

relaxing."

                                        Group member

9

Watch our video about Brushstrokes

Page 39

http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=_eWuvrKMUkw


Existing Twitter followers

“We wanted to do something for people who have been stuck in hospital

for weeks or months on end, who were missing their own pets." 

Lauren Farrow, Manager of the Holistic Care Centre at James Cook

University Hospital

The Age Friendly Fund part-funded a new Pet Shed within the Holistic Care Centre garden at

James Cook University Hospital. 

The shed lets patients spend time with pets when they are brought to the hospital by a friend

or relative.

 

Our Community Development team successfully supported the Holistic Care Centre to apply

to three funds, including the Age Friendly Fund.

 

The pet shed is now up and running and will benefit patients for years to come.

Trinity Pet Shed

10

Watch our video about the Pet Shed

 

There is evidence that pet therapy can reduce stress and anxiety, but due to the risk of

infection, animals are not allowed onto a ward where cancer patients are recovering after

chemotherapy. Spending time with their pet can reduce the anxiety patients might have about

the animal’s wellbeing while they are in hospital.

Page 40

http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=4cShPBBBHT8


For more information about the group contact Community Ventures,

The Greenway, Middlesbrough TS3 9PA

Telephone number: 01642 989254

 

The group is also a member of Middlesbrough’s Warm Welcome Network, an initiative set up

by Together Middlesbrough and Cleveland, to ensure that groups and activities are

welcoming and accessible. Everyone that visits Steph’s tea and cake group talks about the

lovely warm welcome they receive and the fact that the group isn’t too big, so if you don’t like

being around lots of people, it is a good place to try.

The group is a weekly get together for anyone within the community to drop in for a cup of

tea, a home-made cake and most importantly, a good chat.

 

The group was started by Steph, a local resident of the Thorntree/Brambles Farm area of

Middlesbrough. With the support of Community Ventures and her friend Carole, Steph found

the confidence to start her own group to help people feeling lonely in her community.

 

Steph’s Tea and Cake

1 1

The Age Friendly Fund supported the group to get up and running by buying some essential

catering equipment and also some resources to host special events including an afternoon tea

and Halloween party. 

“I decided to start my own group to help people that don’t come

out or socialise in any way. The group has made me feel

happy and given me a sense of purpose."

                   Steph, Group leader

Slowly but surely the group is becoming more widely known in the community and attracting a

number of regulars. 

Page 41



For more information about the group contact Loft Studio, 2nd Floor of the Forbes

building, Linthorpe Road, Middlesbrough

Contact Nadia on 07960 165337

 

Our Community Development team supported the group to find a dance tutor who could

deliver the sessions and apply to the Age Friendly Fund for support to cover the costs of the

tutor and venue for 12 months. We hope that this seed funding helps the group attract

enough regular members to introduce a small charge for the session. This could help the

group become sustainable.

“My favorite dance is Jive. Everyone is so friendly.  I enjoy coming

here, the dance instructor is superb. We all have a lovely time."

                             Group member

The 50+ dance group comes together weekly to improve balance and flexibility through dance

and to have fun. The group was formed as a result of a 10-week exercise and dance course

called 'Falling on your feet', delivered jointly by Helix Arts and Ageing Better Middlesbrough.

 

Group members wanted to continue to meet up to dance once the programme had finished.

 

50+ Dance Group

12

“We wanted to continue with
regular dance sessions to
maintain our current level
of fitness and flexibility,
and to maintain friendships
developed during the
sessions."
                     Group member

Watch our video about the 50+ Dance Group

People who take part in the dance classes have noticed that their mobility and overall level

of fitness has improved. Some members have also noticed that learning a dance routine has

a positive impact on their memory. Some members also meet after the session to have a

coffee and a chat. 

Page 42

http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=JIj3oLqSUTE
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=JIj3oLqSUTE


Existing Twitter followers

The Memory Lane is an opportunity for people to get together who want to share memories

and meet new people.  

 

Our Community Development team supported Diane, group leader, to advertise the

sessions in our Taster Session and What’s On Guide. 

Staff attended the first three sessions to support Diane and offered advice on how to

become a constituted group. 

The group was also supported to apply to the Age Friendly Fund to cover the cost of public

liability insurance and some office supplies. 

Memory Lane

13

Sessions help to trigger happy memories,

connect members to their community and 

let new friendships to develop as people tell 

stories and discover things they have in common. 

The sessions take place in a local pub and now has more than 20 regular members.

“I used to enjoy sharing memories with my nana and knew it would work.

People come from local care homes, and some travel independently, we

host our sessions in a local pub which helps with the atmosphere."

Diane, Group Leader 

A live performer usually opens the session

with a ‘golden oldie’ and then question

cards or topics are used to invite members

to share their own memories using portable

microphones. There’s also a quiz and

raffle.   

For more information visit www.facebook.com/MemoryLaneMiddlesbrough

 Page 43

https://www.facebook.com/MemoryLaneMiddlesbrough


Get in touch
 

Anya Deputat – Programme Development Officer (Age Friendly Communities)

anya.deputat@middlesbroughandstocktonmind.org.uk  

 

Natalie Bilton - Programme Development Officer (Data & Learning)

natalie.bilton@middlesbroughandstocktonmind.org.uk                        

 

Other Ageing Better Middlesbrough learning is available at:

www.ageingbettermiddlesbrough.org.uk/learning/

         

@abmiddlesbrough

 facebook.com/ageingbettermiddlesbrough

Page 44

http://www.ageingbettermiddlesbrough.org.uk/learning/

	Agenda
	5 Reducing Loneliness and/ or social isolation in Later life- an update
	Scrutiny Action Plan - reducing loneliness and, or  isolation
	Age Friendly Fund Report


